IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE TURNER,
)

Petitioner,
)

V.

CASE NO. 96,631
)

STATE OF FLORIDA,
)

Respondent.
)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question of great public importance. Jurisdiction arises under Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). The issues are the constitutionality of section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act, and whether the trial court possessed and properly exercised sentencing discretion.

A one-volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. A one-volume transcript will be referred to as "T," followed by the page number.

This brief is printed in 12 point Courier New font.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed July 18, 1997, Turner was charged with three counts of felony battery, allegedly occurring on June 28, April 26 and April 2, 1997. (R21) The state filed notices of intent to classify Turner as a prison releasee reoffender (R22).

Appellant pled no contest to the charges in exchange for a sentence of five years in state prison. (R26-27, T3-17) Counsel preserved arguments on the unconstitutionality of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, § 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), as to the offense committed on June 28, the only convictions to which the act applied, and reserved the issue for appeal. (R26-27, T4-12) The discussion between court and counsel demonstrates an assumption that sentencing as a prison releasee reoffender was mandatory for those who met the criteria of the statute. (T4-14)

The court accepted the plea and imposed the negotiated sanction. (T15-16, R31-42) Timely notice of appeal was filed, and Turner was granted the public defender's services for the appeal. (R43-44, 59)

On September 9, 1999, the First District Court of Appeal issued an opinion rejecting Turner's challenges to the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act based on separation of powers, the single-subject rule, cruel and unusual punishment, and due

process based on vagueness, arbitrariness and lack of reasonable connection to legislative intent.

The district court certified the same question of public importance as in <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), <u>rev. pending</u>, Fla. S.Ct. No. 95,281:

DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISH-MENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

Turner v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2074a (Fla. 1st DCA Sept. 9, 1999).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), violates the separation of governmental powers commanded by Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution. In granting the power to apply the enhanced sentencing provisions to prosecutors, and through prosecutors to victims of crime, the Legislature has usurped the power to impose criminal sentences constitutionally vested in the judiciary. However, if this court determines that the trial court retains discretion to impose a sentence under the subsection on those who qualify, the Act may withstand constitutional scrutiny.
 - II. If the court finds that sentencing under section

775.082(8) is within the discretion of the trial court, the petitioner's sentence should be vacated and the case remanded for the trial court to exercise that discretion. The denial of the defense challenge to the statute below, and the petitioner's plea contemplating a sentence under the Act were premised on its mandatory nature.

III. The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act offends constitutional protections against legislative logrolling, against cruel and/or unusual punishment, against impermissibly vague legislation, and to due process and equal protection of the law.

ARGUMENT

I. (ON CERTIFIED QUESTION) AS CONSTRUED IN WOODS V. STATE¹ THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES, DELEGATES JUDICIAL SENTENCING POWER TO THE STATE ATTORNEY, IN VIOLATION OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE, ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Florida's Constitution, Article II, Section 3, divides the powers of state government into legislative, executive, and judicial branches and says that "No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the

¹ 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), <u>rev. granted</u>, Fla.S.Ct. No. 95,281 (Aug. 23, 1999). Similar rulings were issued by the Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal. <u>McKnight v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); <u>Speed v. State</u>, 732 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

other branches unless expressly provided herein". The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), as interpreted by the district court in Woods, violates that provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the state attorney as an official of the executive branch.

The Act, now amended and designated as Section 775.082(9), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), included in its original text the following relevant portions:

(a)1. "Prison releasee reoffender" means any defendant who commits, or attempts to commit: $\label{eq:commits}$

[specified or described violent felonies]

within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor.

- 2. If the state attorney determines that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in subparagraph 1., the state attorney may seek to have the court sentence the defendant as a prison releasee reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eliqible for sentencing under the sentencing quidelines and must be sentenced as follows:
- a. For a felony punishable by life, by a term of imprisonment for life;

- b. For a felony of the first degree, by a term of imprisonment of 30 years; c. For a felony of the second degree, by a term of imprisonment of 15 years; and d. For a felony of the third degree, by a term of imprisonment of 5 years.
- (b) A person sentenced under paragraph (a) shall be released only by expiration of sentence and shall not be eligible for parole, control release, or any form of early release. Any person sentenced under paragraph (a) must serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence.
- (c) Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law. (Emphasis added).

The following portion of the Act describes the criteria for exempting persons from the otherwise mandatory sentence:

- (d)1. It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless any of the following circumstances exist:
- a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;
- b. The testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained;
- c. The victim does not want the offender to receive the mandatory prison sentence and provides a written statement to that effect; or
- <u>d. Other extenuating circumstances exist</u> which preclude the just prosecution of the <u>offender</u>. (Emphasis added).

The state attorney has the discretion (may seek) to invoke

the sentencing sanctions by evaluating subjective criteria; if sought by the prosecutor, the court is required to (must) impose the maximum sentence. The rejection of statutory exceptions by the prosecutor divests the trial judge of any sentencing discretion. This unique delegation of discretion to the executive branch displacing the sentencing power inherently vested in the judicial branch conflicts with separation of powers because, as will be shown, when sentencing discretion is statutorily authorized, the judiciary must have at least a share of that discretion.

The Act was upheld against a separation of powers challenge in <u>Woods</u> because "Decisions whether and how to prosecute one accused of a crime and whether to seek enhanced punishment pursuant to law rest within the sphere of responsibility relegated to the executive, and the state attorneys possess complete discretion with regard thereto."

Since Florida's constitution expressly limits persons belonging to one branch from exercising any powers of another branch, see Askew v. Cross Key Waterways, 372 So.2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978), the question certified first requires interpretation of what powers the Act allocates or denies to which branch.

The Woods court found no ambiguity requiring interpretation,

saying "the legislature's rather clearly expressed intent was to remove substantially all sentencing discretion from trial judges in cases where the prosecutor elects to seek enhanced sentencing pursuant to the Act and proves the defendant's eligibility."

Further, the district court held that the discretion afforded by subparagraph (8)(d)1. "was intended to extend only to the prosecutor, and not to the trial court." Ibid.

The power at issue is choosing among sentencing options.

The district court acknowledged that in Florida "the plenary power to prescribe the punishment for criminal offenses lies with the legislature, not the courts." Ibid. That analysis is accurate but incomplete, because the legislature's plenary power to prescribe punishment disables not only the courts, but the executive as well. Therein lies the flaw in the Act.

To clarify the argument here, it is not that the legislature is prohibited from enacting a mandatory or minimum mandatory sentence. Rather the argument is that the legislature cannot delegate to the state attorney, through vague standards, the discretion to choose both the charge and the penalty and thereby prohibit the court from performing its inherent judicial function of imposing sentence.

Obviously the legislature may lawfully enact mandatory

sentences. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Owens v. State</u>, 316 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1975)

(Upholding minimum mandatory 25 year sentence for capital felony); <u>State v. Sesler</u>, 386 So.2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980)

(Legislature was authorized to enact 3 year mandatory minimum for possession of firearm).

By the same token, there is no dispute that the state attorney enjoys virtually unlimited discretion to make charging decisions. State v. Bloom, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986) (Under Art. II, Sec. 3 of Florida's constitution the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility; a court has no authority to hold pre-trial that a capital case does not qualify for the death penalty); Young v. State, 699 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1997) ("[T]he decision to prosecute a defendant as an habitual offender is a prosecutorial function to be initiated at the prosecutor's discretion and not by the court."); State v. Jogan, 388 So.2d 322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (The decision to prosecute or nolle pros pre-trial is vested solely in the state attorney).

The power to impose sentence belongs to the judicial branch. "[J]udges have traditionally had the discretion to impose any sentences within the maximum or minimum limits prescribed by the legislature." Smith v. State, 537 So.2d 982, 985, 986 (Fla. 1989). Directly or by implication, Florida courts have held that

sentencing discretion within limits set by law is a judicial function that cannot be wholly delegated to the executive branch.

In <u>State v. Benitez</u>, 395 So.2d 514 (Fla. 1981), the court reviewed Section 893.135, a drug trafficking statute providing severe mandatory minimum sentences but with an escape valve permitting the court to reduce or suspend a sentence if the state attorney initiated a request for leniency based on the defendant's cooperation with law enforcement. The defendants contended that the law "usurps the sentencing function from the judiciary and assigns it to the executive branch, since [its] benefits ... are triggered by the initiative of the state attorney." <u>Id</u>. at 519. Rejecting that argument and finding the statute did not encroach on judicial power the court said:

Under the statute, the ultimate decision on sentencing resides with the judge who must rule on the motion for reduction or suspension of sentence. "So long as a statute does not wrest from courts the <u>final</u> discretion to impose sentence, it does not infringe upon the constitutional division of responsibilities." <u>People v. Eason</u>, 40 N.Y. 297, 301, 386 N.Y.S. 673, 676, 353 N.E. 2d 587, 589 (1976)(Emphasis in original).

Ibid.

This court assumed, therefore, that had the statute divested the court of the "final discretion" to impose sentence it would have violated separation of powers, an implicit recognition that

sentencing is an inherent function of the courts.

This court made an identical assumption when the habitual offender law, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, was attacked on separation of powers grounds in <u>Seabrook v. State</u>, 629 So.2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1993), saying that

...the trial judge has the discretion not to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender. Therefore, petitioner's contention that the statute violated the doctrine of separation of powers because it deprived trial judges of such discretion necessarily fails. (Emphasis added).

The Third DCA held the same view regarding the mandatory sentencing provisions of the violent career criminal act, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, saying that it did not violate separation of powers because the trial judge retained discretion to find that such sentencing was not necessary for protection of the public. State v. Meyers, 708 So.2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). In the same vein, the First DCA said in London v. State, 623 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), that "[a]lthough the state attorney may suggest that a defendant be classified as a habitual offender, only the judiciary decides whether to classify and sentence the defendant as a habitual offender."

The foundation for judicial, as opposed to executive, discretion in sentencing was well described by Justice Scalia,

albeit in a dissenting opinion:

Trial judges could be given the power to determine what factors justify a greater or lesser sentence within the statutorily prescribed limits because that was ancillary to their exercise of the judicial power of pronouncing sentence upon individual defendants. (Emphasis added).

Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, 417-418 (1989) (Scalia,
J., dissenting).

By passing the Act the legislature crossed the line dividing the executive from the judiciary. By virtue of the discretion improperly given to the state attorney, the courts are left without a voice at sentencing. This court is authorized to remedy that exclusion.

In <u>Walker v. Bentley</u>, 678 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1996), this court nullified legislation that took away the circuit court's power to punish indirect criminal contempt involving domestic violence injunctions. In language which applies here the court said that any legislation which "purports to do away with the inherent power of contempt directly affects a separate and distinct function of the judicial branch, and, as such, violates the separation of powers doctrine...." <u>Id</u>. at 1267. Sentencing, like contempt, is a "separate and district function of the judicial branch" and should be accorded the same protection.

Authority to perform judicial functions cannot be delegated.

In re Alkire's Estate, 198 So.475, 482, 144 Fla. 606, 623, (1940)
(Supplemental opinion):

The judicial power[s] in the several courts vested by [former] Section 1, Article V, ... are not delegable and cannot be abdicated in whole or in part by the courts. (Emphasis added.)

More specifically, the legislature has no authority to delegate to the executive branch an inherent judicial power.

Accord, Gough v. State ex rel. Sauls, 55 So.2d 111, 116 (Fla. 1951) (The legislature was without authority to confer on the Avon Park City Council the judicial power to determine the legality or validity of votes cast in a municipal election).

Applying that principle here, as construed in <u>Woods</u>, the Act wrongly assigns to the state attorney the sole authority to make factual findings regarding exemptions which thereafter deprive a court of sentencing discretion. Stated differently, the legislature exceeded its authority by giving the executive branch exclusive control of decisions inherent in the judicial branch.

According to the First¹, Third³, and Fifth Districts,⁴ the Act limits the trial court to determining whether a qualifying substantive law has been violated (after trial or plea) and

¹ <u>Woods v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, note 1.

³ McKnight v. State, supra, note 1.

⁴Speed v. State, supra, note 1.

whether the offense was committed within 3 years of release from a state correctional institution. Beyond that, the Act is said to bind the court to the choice made by the state attorney.

While the legislature could have imposed a mandatory prison term, as it did with firearms or capital felonies, or left the final decision to the court, as with habitual offender and career criminal laws, the Act unconstitutionally gave the state attorney the special discretion to strip the court of its inherent power to sentence. That feature, as far as petitioner has discovered, distinguishes the Act from all other sentencing schemes in Florida. Accord, Lookadoo v. State, 737 So.2d 637, 638 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)(Sharp, J., dissenting):

The problem with this statutory scheme is not so much that it removes the exercise of discretion in sentencing from the trial judge, but that such discretion is placed in the hands of the executive branch (the prosecutor, or state attorney's office), and the victim. The judicial branch is shut out of the process entirely. That is contrary to the traditional role played by the courts in sentencing, a role which in my view, is constitutionally mandated.

Pursuant to the statute, the prosecution has the sole discretion to seek imposition of the mandatory minimum provisions of section 775.082(8). If it does, then the judge must impose the greater sentence. Only one other statutory exception is provided. The mandatory sentence cannot be imposed if the victim does not want the higher prison

sentence and provides a written statement to that effect.

Sentencing is traditionally the function of the judiciary. See Singletary v. Whittaker, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1684, --- So.2d ----, 1999 WL 518728 (Fla. 5th DCA July 23, 1999); State v. Rome, 696 So.2d 976 (La.1997). The statute here completely removes the trial judge from the discretionary sentencing function and places it in the hands of the executive branch--the attorney general--or the victim. This violates the constitutional division between the executive and judicial branches of government. [cites and footnotes omitted]

Interestingly, the preamble to the Act⁵ gives no hint of exceptions and seemingly portends mandatory sentences for all releasee offenders:

WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that the best deterrent to prevent prison releasees from committing future crimes is to require that <u>any releasee who commits new serious felonies must be sentenced to the maximum term of incarceration allowed by law, and must serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence (Emphasis added.)</u>

The text of the Act, however, transfers the punishing power to the prosecutor who is able to select both the charge and the sentence. The Act properly allows the prosecutor to decide what charge to file but goes further by granting the prosecutor additional authority; to require the judge to impose a fixed sentence

 $^{^{5}}$ Ch. 97-239, Laws of Fla.

regardless of exceptions provided in the law because only the prosecutor may determine if those exceptions should be applied.

The double discretion given the prosecutor to choose both the offense and the sentence while removing any sentencing discretion from the court is novel. Rather, this passage from Young v. State, supra, 699 So.2d at 626, represents conventional separation of powers doctrine in explaining why judges are prohibited from initiating habitual offender proceedings:

Under our adversary system very clear and distinct lines have been drawn between the court and the parties. To permit a court to initiate proceedings for enhanced punishment against a defendant would blur the lines between the prosecution and the independent role of the court as a fair and unbiased adjudicator and referee of the disputes between the parties.

Young emphasizes, therefore, that charging and sentencing are separate powers pertaining to separate branches and by analogy applies here to prohibit the prosecutor from exercising both of those powers.

But in contrast with Florida's traditional demarcation of executive and judicial spheres, by empowering only the prosecutor to apply vague exceptions and thereby oust the judge from the adjudicatory role, the legislature (1) defaulted on its non-delegable obligation to determine the punishment for crimes, (2) delegated that duty to the prosecutor (executive branch) without

intelligible standards, and (3) deprived the judiciary of its traditional power to determine sentences when discretion is allowed. These options fuse in the executive branch both the legislative and judicial powers, violating separation of powers.

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