### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE TURNER,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 96,631

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

The cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment permits life imprisonment without parole for a single crime. Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.2d 836 (1991)(plurality opinion). The Supreme Court concluded in Harmelin that a state sentence of mandatory life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for simple possession of 672 grams of cocaine did not violate the Eighth Amendment, despite the fact that the defendant had no prior felony convictions. In part V of the opinion, joined by a majority of the Court, Justice Scalia noted that a sentence was not unconstitutional simply because it was mandatory and did not allow for consideration of mitigating factors. Determinate sentencing, including severe mandatory sentences, is constitutional.

In <u>McCullough v. Singletary</u>, 967 F.2d 530 (11th Cir. 1992), the Eleventh Circuit held that a life sentence without the possibility of parole did not shock the judicial conscience and was not cruel and unusual punishment. McCullough was convicted of sexual battery and first-degree burglary. McCullough argued that a sentence of life without parole was, itself, cruel and unusual punishment. The <u>McCollough</u> Court noted that only if a sentence is grossly disproportionate to the crime should a <u>Solem</u> analysis be made. Because McCollough committed a crime of violence, a sentence of life imprisonment without parole was not disproportionate to the crime.

The Supreme Court of Washington has also rejected a cruel and unusual challenge to their mandatory life sentence without parole three strikes statute. <u>State v. Thorne</u>, 921 P.2d 514, 537 (Wash. 1996). The Washington Supreme Court reasoned that the repetition of

criminal conduct aggravates guilt and justifies a harsher sentence. State v. Rivers, 921 P.2d 495 (Wash. 1996) (holding sentence of life imprisonment without possibility of parole is not cruel and unusual punishment for a second degree robbery charge of a persistent offender).

Additionally, it is not a violation of the Eighth Amendment for the victim to have input into the sentence. <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991)(holding that no violation of the Eighth Amendment occurs when a jury considers victim-impact evidence in the sentencing phase in a capital case).

#### Florida Constitution

Article I, section 17, of the Florida Constitution provides:

Excessive fines, cruel or unusual punishment, attainder, forfeiture of estate, indefinite imprisonment, and unreasonable detention of witnesses are forbidden.

First, it is a "time-honored principle" that any sentence imposed within statutory limits will not violate cruel and unusual provision of the Florida Constitution. <a href="McArthur v. State">McArthur v. State</a>, 351 So. 2d 972, 976 (Fla. 1977) (upholding 25 years minimum mandatory sentencing for capital offenses); <a href="O'Donnell v. State">O'Donnell v. State</a>, 326 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1975) (upholding minimum mandatory sentence of 30 years imprisonment for kidnapping against a cruel and unusual challenge). The Florida Legislature, not the Courts, determine the sentence for an offense.

Florida Courts have repeatedly addressed the State's constitutional ban on cruel and unusual punishment as applied to recidivist statute and mandatory sentencing. In <u>Cross v. State</u>, 96

Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (Fla. 1928), the Florida Supreme Court explained that the Legislature may take away all sentencing discretion and establish a fixed, absolute penalty and has done so in many instances. The Cross Court observed: "it does no violence to any constitutional quaranty for the State to rid itself of depravity when its efforts to reform have failed." Indeed, the Cross Court stated that the concept of proportionality includes the notion that punishment for habitual offenders should be made to fit the criminal as well as the crime. In prescribing punishment for such offenders, it is "both competent and just to take into consideration not only the nature of the crime for which the punishment is to be imposed, but also the incorrigibility and depravity of the accused as demonstrated by previous convictions." The Cross Court, quoting from other state courts' opinion on their various recidivist statutes, explained "[s]urely when one by his conduct has indicated that he is a recidivist, there is no reason for saying that society may not protect itself from his future ravages. It is neither cruel nor unusual to say that an habitual criminal shall receive a punishment based upon his established proclivities to commit crime."

In <u>Hale v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993), this Court rejected a disproportionate claim to the habitual violent offender statute. Hale was sentenced to two concurrent ten-year minimum mandatory sentences with two concurrent twenty-five year maximum sentences, which in the Court's words: "simply does not rise to the level of cruel or unusual." <u>Id</u>. at 526. The <u>Hale</u> Court reaffirmed the proposition that the length of the sentence actually imposed is a matter of legislative prerogative.

This Court has also rejected cruel and unusual challenges to mandatory sentencing schemes. In <u>O'Donnell v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1975), the Florida Supreme Court rejected a cruel and unusual challenge to a minimum mandatory sentence of 30 years imprisonment for kidnapping. O'Donnell argued that violated the constitutional provision because it proscribed the trial judge from making "individualizing sentences" to make the punishment fit the criminal. The Court stated: "it is within the province of the Legislature to set criminal penalties." Additionally, this Court noted that due to the nature of the crime and the very probable deterrent effect of the statutes here under consideration, a minimum mandatory sentence of 30 years was not excessive. In McArthur v. State, 351 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1977), this Court held that a sentence of life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory of 25 years for capital offenses does not impose constitutionally proscribed cruel and unusual punishment. McArthur was convicted of first-degree murder and she was required to serve twenty-five years before becoming eligible for parole by statute. McArthur contended that the statute imposes a cruel and unusual punishment because it operated without regard to the circumstances of individual defendants or the crimes for which the defendants have been convicted. The Court noted that the prevailing practice of individualizing sentencing determinations generally reflects simply enlightened policy rather than a constitutional imperative. Id. citing Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 96 S.Ct. 2978, 49 L.Ed.2d 944 (1976). Again, in <u>State v. Benitez</u>, 395 So.2d 514 (Fla. 1981), this Court held that mandatory minimum sentences section of the drug trafficking statute, § 893.135, did not violate cruel and

unusual punishment clauses of State and Federal Constitutions. Benitez arqued that mandatory sentences constitute cruel and unusual punishment because the minimum mandatory sentences are unnecessarily severe and disproportional to the nature of the crime because the offenses are drug offenses. The Court agreed that the penalties imposed are certainly severe, but they are by no means cruel and unusual in light of their potential deterrent value and the seriousness of the crime involved. The Court reasoned that the dominant theme which runs through prior Florida Supreme Court decisions is that the legislature, and not the judiciary, determines maximum and minimum penalties for violations of the law. Minimum mandatories do not run afoul of the constitutional prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. See also <a href="Hale v. State">Hale v. State</a>, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993)(holding that the imposition of two 25 year habitual violent felony offender sentences, each with a mandatory minimum sentence of 10 years to run consecutively for the sale and possession of cocaine, does not constitutes cruel or unusual punishment.

In <u>Turner v. State</u>, 24 FLA.L.WEEKLY D2074 (Fla. 1st DCA September 9, 1999), the First District rejected petitioner's cruel and unusual punishment challenge. The First District found that imposition of the statutory maximum did not constitute cruel or unusual punishment because "there is no possibility that the Act inflicts torture or a lingering death or the infliction of unnecessary and wanton pain." <u>Id. citing Jones v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 76, 79 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1297 (1998).

Contrary to petitioner's argument, it is not cruel and unusual punishment that only those who reoffend within three years are

subject to prison releasee reoffender sanctions. Recidivist statute often included time frames. If the statute used a time frame of two years rather than three years, Petitioner would no doubt raise the same argument. The argument then would be: that a person who commits a crime two years and one days is not subject to the statute and this is cruel. The alternative to this is that any felony no matter how long ago it was committed could be used to qualify the defendant for the particular type of recidivist sentencing.

Petitioner's reliance on Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 77 L.Ed.2d 637 (1983) is misplaced. The viability of <u>Solem</u> in light of Harmelin is doubtful. The plurality opinion in Harmelin stated that Solem was "simply wrong." Harmelin, 501 U.S. at 965. The concurring opinion required that the sentence be disproportionate" before a violation of the Eighth Amendment could be claimed. However, even under the rationale of Solem, the prison release reoffender statute does not violate the Eighth Amendment. Basically, the Court in Solem held that a life sentence without parole for uttering a \$100.00 bad check under a South Dakota recidivist statute based on six prior nonviolent convictions violated the Eighth Amendment. According to one Florida Court: "the all-important factor which led the majority to find an Eighth Amendment violation was the fact that the offense for which the defendant was convicted, burglary, was characterized by the Court as a nonviolent felony" Bloodworth v. State, 504 So. 2d 495, 498 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Where, by contrast, as here, the offense committed is violent, the holding in <u>Solem</u> simply does not apply. <u>Id</u>. at

Hale v. State, 600 So.2d 1228 1229 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)(noting
Solem applies only to non-violent felonies).

Three of the four Solem factors were from the dissent's test in Rummel. In Rummel, the dissent focused both on the nonviolent nature of the offenses and the fact that only twelve states ever enacted a recidivist statute that called for mandatory life imprisonment for repeat nonviolent offenders and nine of those states have repealed those statutes. Thus, according to the dissent, the legislatures in those states determined that life imprisonment represented excessive punishment. The then existing federal habitual offender statute had a twenty-five years maximum. The Rummel dissent said these legislative decisions "lend credence to the view" that a mandatory life sentence is unconstitutionally disproportionate. It "lends credence" no longer. State after State has adopted mandatory life without parole for drug trafficking offenses. Ala.Code 13A-12-231(2)(d) (mandating life imprisonment without possibility of for offenders); parole certain drug Mich.Comp.Laws 333.7403(2)(a)(I)(mandating a sentence of life without parole for delivery of 650 grams or more); La.Rev.Stat. §15:1354. Additionally, the federal recidivist statute now provides for a mandatory life sentence for a third offense. Of course, if the Rummel dissent had been the majority, neither these states' legislatures or Congress would have been free to adopt such new legislation. Moreover, as the Rummel Court noted, some state will always bear the distinction of being the harshest to a particular type of offender. The moment you list the fifty states according to any criteria, some state becomes number one. The problem with a Solem analysis is that if the courts

invalidate as unconstitutional a State's recidivist statute as being the harshest, then what was the second harshest becomes now the harshest and is equally subject to attack for being the harshest. These constitutional attacks on State's recidivist would continue until all states would have to adopt the least harsh recidivist scheme or have their recidivist statute declared unconstitutional as the "harshest" in the United States. For, as Judge Posner observed in the context of prisoner litigation, "[i]t cannot be right that the United least. comfortable prison conditions in the States automatically violate the Constitution; for then, by the inevitable progression of successive cases, all conditions other than the most comfortable would be found to violate it. <u>Davenport v. DeRobertis</u>, 844 F.2d 1310, 1315 (7th Cir. 1988). A state's recidivist statute is not unconstitutional merely because it is the harshest.

Thus, severe mandatory sentencing statutes do not violate the Federal Constitution or the Florida Constitution. Nor do recidivist sentencing statutes. No Florida Court has ever held that a recidivist statute covering violent offenders violates the prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment or that such that violent, repeat offenders may not be sentenced to significant mandatory terms of imprisonment.

# VOID FOR VAGUENESS<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petitioner correctly notes that overbreadth and void for vagueness are separate and distinct doctrines. However, Petitioner incorrectly reasons that the vagueness doctrine "has broader application" because it was designed to ensure compliance with due process. The overbreadth doctrine was developed to ensure freedom of speech and allows parties that traditionally would lack standing

Petitioner asserts that the prison releasee reoffender statute is void for vagueness because it invites arbitrary enforcement and the prosecutor must define the meaning of the exceptions provisions. The State respectfully disagrees. First, Petitioner lacks standing to raise a vagueness challenge because his conduct fits squarely within the statute's core meaning. Additionally, Petitioner had fair warning of the proscribed conduct. The terms of this statute could not be clearer. If a person commits a violent, enumerated felony within three years of being released from prison, he can be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender. Moreover, the statute does not invite arbitrary enforcement. The prosecutor must prepare and file a deviation memorandum anytime he decides not the sentence a defendant as a prison releasee reoffender. Thus, the prison releasee reoffender statute is not vague.

#### Standing

Petitioner has no standing to complain about the prison releasee reoffender statute as applied to others or to complain of the absence of notice when his own conduct is "clearly within the core of proscribed conduct". State v. Hamilton, 388 So.2d 561, 562 (Fla. 1980); Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. 489, 495, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 1191, 71 L.Ed.2d 362 (1982); Trojan Technologies, Inc. v. Com. of Pa., 916 F.2d 903, 915 (3d Cir. 1990) (manufacturer of steel could not raise a vagueness claim with

to challenge a statute on First Amendment grounds. The void for vagueness doctrine does not allow such third party standing and therefore, is narrower than the overbreadth doctrine.

regard to wooden chairs because the statute gave them ample warning that their product is within the Steel Act's ambit).

Petitioner's conduct is at the core of the prison releasee reoffender statute's ambit. The core of this statute is a recently released prisoner committing a violent felony. Petitioner is a recently released prisoner who committed a violent felony. Thus, Petitioner lacks standing to raise a vagueness challenge,

Petitioner also claims that "exceptions" provisions are vague, not the main qualifying provisions of the statute. However, by raising this claim, Petitioner is seeking the benefit of a vagueness challenge that might be raised by other defendants. Only a defendant who has a good-faith argument that one of the exceptions actually applies to him has standing to challenge the statute on the grounds that the exceptions are vague. Petitioner makes no claim that he falls within one of the exceptions and thus, he lacks standing to challenge the exceptions.

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